
OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL 
ORGANIZATIONAL MEETING AND REGULAR SESSION 

JANUARY 8, 2024 – 7:00 P.M. 
CITY HALL – 110 W. CLARK ST. OXFORD, GA 30054 

A G E N D A 
 
 

1. Call to Order 
 

a. *Oath of Office for Municipal Court Judge Steven A. Hathorn, administered by 
City Staff, State of Georgia Notary Public 

 
2. Organizational Meeting – Judge Steven A. Hathorn presiding. 

 
a. Oath of Office for Mayor and Councilmembers continuing to serve: 

i. David S. Eady – Mayor 
ii. Erik Oliver – Post 1 

iii. George Holt – Post 2 
iv. Laura McCanless – Post 3 
v. Mike Ready – Post 4 

vi. Jim Windham – Post 5 
vii. Jeff Wearing – Post 6 

 
b. Mayor and Council Appointment and Oath for the Administrative Officers 

continuing to serve: 
i. *C. David Strickland, PC – City Attorney 

ii. *Cheryl Freeman – Municipal Solicitor 
iii. Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
iv. Mark Anglin – Chief of Police 

 
c. *Mayor Pro-Tem for 2024 – The current Mayor Pro Tem is Laura McCanless.  

Her term runs out in January 2024.  At the Work Session, it was suggested that 
Erik Oliver would serve as Mayor Pro-Tem. 

 
3. Motion to accept the Agenda for the January 8, 2024 Mayor and Council Regular 

Meeting. 
 
4. Consent Agenda 

a. *Minutes of the City Council Regular Session December 4, 2023 
b. *Minutes of the City Council Work Session December 18, 2023 
c. *Minutes of the Special Called Voting Meeting December 21, 2023 

 
5. Mayor’s Report:   

a. Please note, the next Work Session will be held on Monday, January 22.  It is 
moved from what would be its regular date of January 15 due to the MLK, Jr. 
Holiday. 



b. Oxford College of Emory University and the City of Oxford have been selected to 
host the first day’s destination and the start of the second day of the 44th Annual 
Bicycle Ride Across Georgia (BRAG) on June 2, 2024.  This is a 7-day event 
covering 419 miles from Atlanta to Savannah. 
 

6. Citizen Concerns 
 

7. *City Council Meeting Schedule for 2024: Please note, this calendar reflects the needed 
changes to the meeting schedule based on the holidays and elections.  Generally, the 
meetings are shifted one week out. 
 

8. Authorization for Mayor Eady to sign the official Proclamation declaring Newton 
County as an Education First Community by supporting the Newton County 
Education Foundation (NEF) and the mission to put community resources to work 
for our youth – Chairman Banes has requested the cities to support this effort. 
 

9. *Review of recommended changes to the Stream Buffers from 25 Feet to 100 feet:   
See attached sections Sec. 14-134. Minimum protections (15) and (16). 
 

10. *Review Three Bids for Public Works Fence Demolition and Replacement:  Please 
note, the current Capital Improvement Plan has $75,000 budgeted for this project. – 
The Council had discussed choosing HCS at the Work Session. 
 

11. Consideration of Placing Signs for Catova Creek where it flows under E. Soule 
Street and W. Richardson Road – As you know, Mike McQuaide worked with faculty 
at the College of the Muscogee Nation in Okmulgee, OK to look for a more appropriate 
name for Dried Indian Creek.  Mr. McQuaide sent photos of the creek showing many of 
the significant granite outcroppings the water flows over.  Norma Marshall, an Instructor 
in Native American Studies at the College of the Muscogee Nation, suggested “Catova 
Creek,” which is Muscogee for “creek among the rocks.” 
 

12. *Approval of Request for Assistance from Northeast Georgia Regional Commission 
(NEGRC) to apply for the Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability 
and Equity (RAISE) Grant – With a deadline of February 28, 2024, the City Manager 
and Mayor elected to send a request for assistance for this effort.  We are respectfully 
asking for approval of this action.  Note, the request may be withdrawn with no expense 
incurred.  The RAISE funds may support shared use paths and would likely require no 
further local expenditure of funds due to the Georgia Office of Planning & Budget Funds 
we have and because the path would be located within a Census Tract that has persistent 
poverty.  The cost for the application is $500. 
 

13. *Distribution of FEMA Reimbursement Funds – Please see the attached memo 
regarding direction needed for the distribution of $9,368.01 in FEMA funds for expenses 
incurred from the January 12, 2023 storm damages. 
 



14. *GEFA Lead and Copper Grant – This item was not heard at the last Work Session.  
Staff just received this grant award on 1/2/24 and it is due back to GEFA on 2/1/24.  
There appear to be some errors in the budget as prepared by GEFA and these are detailed 
in the 014a attachment.  We have determined the City is not obligated to spend more than 
the grant of $73,900 and there is no match required.  The inspection and replacement of 
lead joints and lines is a new requirement, and more funding is expected to assist with 
this effort. 

 
15. *Invoices:  Council will review the city’s recently paid invoices over $1,000. 

 
16. Executive Session:  An Executive Session could potentially be held for Land 

Acquisition/Disposition, Addressing Pending or Potential Litigation, and/or Personnel. 
 

17. Adjourn 
 
*Attachments 





STRICKLAND & STRICKLAND, LLP 
Attorneys at Law 

 
1138 Conyers Street, SE 

Charles D. Strickland (1962-2019) 
C. David Strickland, P.C. 

____ 
 

david.strickland@strickland-law.com 
 
 

Covington, Georgia 30014-2851 
 

______________ 
 

Established 1962 
 
 

Post Office Box 70 
Covington, Georgia 30015-0070 

____ 
 

Telephone (770) 786-5460 
Facsimile (770) 786-5499

 
November 29, 2023 

 
 
 
 
Hon. David S. Eady, Mayor 
Mr. Bill Andrew, City Manager 
City of Oxford 
110 West Clark Street 
Oxford Georgia 30054-2274 
 
 

Re:  Reappointment as City Attorney. 
 
 
Gentlemen, 
 

I would like to respectfully request you and the City Council to consider my continuing as 
City Attorney for Oxford for the next year; I would be glad to do so under same terms as this past, 
and prior years. If the City is amenable, please list the appointment as C. David Strickland (C. 
David Strickland, P.C.). 
 

If I can be of further assistance, please call. 
 
 
      Sincerely, 
 

       
      C. David Strickland, PC 

 



December 14, 2022 

City of Oxford 

Attn: Ms. Brooks
110 West Clark Street 

Oxford, GA 30054 

RE: City of Oxford Solicitor Position 

Dear Ms. Brooks: 

I am writing to express my continued interest in the Solicitor position with the City of Oxford. I 

have enjoyed working with everyone and I would like to continue in my role as the solicitor if the 

City would have me. Please let me know if you need anything further from me. 

Very truly yours, 

Cheryl R. Freeman 
Attorney at Law 

1182B Washington Street 

Covington, Georgia 30014 

Phone: (404) 955-8183 

Fax: (404) 373-3990 

cheryl@cfreemanlaw.com 



MAYORS PRO-TEM (2005-PRESENT) 
 

2023 
2022 

Laura McCanless 
Mike Ready 

2021 George Holt 
2020 Jim Windham 
2019 Jeff Wearing 
2018 Jim Windham 
2017 Mike Ready 
2016 George Holt 
2015 Sarah Davis 
2014 Lyn Pace 
2013 Terry Smith 
2012 David Eady 
2011 Frank Davis 
2010 Sue Dale 
2009 Jim Windham 
2008 George Holt 
2007 Hoyt Oliver 
2006 William Murdy 
2005 Emma Lou Patterson 

 
 

MAYORS (1943-PRESENT) 
 

2020-Present Mr. David S. Eady 
2008-2019 Mr. Jerry D. Roseberry 
2007 Mr. William H. (Dean) Murdy 
2004-2006 Mr. Donald Ballard 
1995-2003 Mr. Don Turner 
1988-1994 Mr. Jack Porter Atkinson Jr. 
1982-1987 Mr. Fred Taylor 
1980-1981 Mr. Weldon Carson 
1976-1979 Mr. Dial 
1972-1975 Mr. Wiley Allgood 
1958-1971 Mr. Augustus W. (Jack) Jackson 
1953-1957 Mr. Aubra L. Sherwood 
1952 Mr. Barnett 
1951 Mr. Lancaster 
1950 Mr. M.R. Elizer 
1948-1949 Mr. Allgood 
1947 Mr. Thorne 
1943-1946 Mr. E. W. Strozier 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEETING 
REGULAR SESSION 

MONDAY, DECEMBER 4, 2023 – 7:00 PM 
CITY HALL 

DRAFT 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT:  
David Eady – Mayor 
George Holt – Councilmember 
Laura McCanless – Councilmember  
Mike Ready – Councilmember 
Jeff Wearing – Councilmember  
Erik Oliver – Councilmember 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS NOT PRESENT: 
Jim Windham – Councilmember 
 

APPOINTED/STAFF PRESENT: 
Bill Andrew – City Manager 
Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
Mark Anglin – Police Chief 
Jody Reid – Supervisor of Maintenance 
David Strickland – City Attorney 
 
 
 
 

 
OTHERS PRESENT: Art Vinson, Mike McQuaide 
 
1. The meeting was called to order by the Honorable David S. Eady, Mayor. 

 
2. Jeff Wearing made a motion to approve the agenda for the December 4, 2023 Mayor and 

Council Regular Meeting.  Mike Ready seconded the motion.  The motion was approved 
unanimously (6/0).  (Attachment A) 

 
3. Jeff Wearing made a motion to accept the Consent Agenda for December 4, 2023.  Mike 

Ready seconded the motion. 
 

Discussion: 
Laura McCanless noted that the minutes for the November 17, 2023 work session erroneously 
show the meeting as being held on a Monday.  This needs to be changed to Friday. 
 
The motion was approved unanimously (6/0).   (Attachment B) 
 

4. Mayor’s Report 
The City Councilmembers were in agreement with trying to have the City’s Christmas Dinner at 
one of the restaurants on the square in Covington on December 14th.  Marcia Brooks will check on 
availability of venues and get back to everyone. 
 
 



December 4, 2023 City of Oxford/Regular Session  2 

 
5. Citizen Concerns 

Erik Oliver raised the issue of sign clutter in the City.  Mayor Eady agreed to add this issue to the 
work session agenda. 

 
6. Presentation of research on the benefits and effectiveness of pollinator gardens  

(Attachment C) 
 
Michaelina Schach was unable to attend the meeting.  She will be invited back for a future 
meeting.  Marcia Brooks suggested that she be appointed Honorary Council Member when she 
attends.  The City Council was amenable to doing so.  Laura McCanless will coordinate with Ms. 
Schach. 
 

7. WaterFirst Renewal (Attachment D) 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to approve renewing the WaterFirst designation with 
Georgia Environmental Finance Authority (GEFA).  George Holt seconded the motion.  The 
motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

8. Resolution for the Oxford Water and Sewer System Development Charges (SDC) 
(Attachment E) 

 
Laura McCanless made a motion to approve the resolution.  Mike Ready seconded the 
motion. 
 
Discussion: 
An extended discussion was held concerning the specifics of the proposed fees and what they 
include.  Bill Andrew clarified that the proposed charges should be distinguished from tap fees.  
Tap fees must be paid in addition to these charges, which are considered system development 
charges. 
 
The motion carried by a vote of 5/1 with George Holt casting a nay vote. 
 

9. Authorization to Request Additional Sewer Capacity from the City of Covington at 
$22/gallon  
 
Discussion: 
Erik Oliver expressed his support for buying more capacity than the minimum necessary to 
minimize the risk of spending more per gallon for capacity in the future.  Mayor Eady stated that 
the study being conducted to determine capacity on the west side of Oxford is being leveraged to 
also make the same determination on the east side, which the City of Covington is servicing.  He 
suggested waiting until that study is complete before buying any additional capacity. 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to request 18,000 gallons of additional capacity from the 
City of Covington.  Jeff Wearing seconded the motion.  The motion was approved 
unanimously (6/0). 
 

10. Authorization to Withdraw $250,000 from Oxford’s Municipal Competitive Trust Fund for 
the Purpose of Upgrading the Geiger Street Substation (Attachment F) 

 
 



December 4, 2023 City of Oxford/Regular Session  3 

 
 
Laura McCanless made a motion to authorize the withdrawal for the purpose of upgrading 
the Geiger Street Substation.  Mike Ready seconded the motion. 
 
Discussion: 
Erik Oliver raised the point that the authorization should not be for a specific purpose since the 
upgrade of the substation has not been finalized.  It can specify that the money will be placed in 
the Electric Capital account. 
 
Laura McCanless amended her motion to authorize the withdrawal and place the money in 
the City’s Electric Capital account. Mike Ready seconded the amended motion.  The motion 
was approved unanimously (6/0). 
 

11. Invoices (Attachment G) 
The City Council reviewed invoices paid for $1,000 or more during November 2023. 
 

12. Executive Session 
None. 
 

13. Adjourn 
Jeff Wearing made a motion to adjourn at 8:04 p.m.  Mike Wearing seconded the motion.  
The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Marcia Brooks 
City Clerk/Treasurer 



 
                                  
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEETING 
WORK SESSION 

MONDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2023 – 6:30 PM 
CITY HALL 

DRAFT 
 

ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT: 
David Eady - Mayor 
George Holt – Councilmember 
Jim Windham – Councilmember 
Laura McCanless – Councilmember 
Mike Ready – Councilmember 
Jeff Wearing – Councilmember 
Erik Oliver – Councilmember  
 

STAFF PRESENT: 
Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
Bill Andrew – City Manager 
Mark Anglin – Police Chief 
Jody Reid – Supervisor of Maintenance 
Sydney Chacon – Associate Clerk 
Matt Brown – Maintenance Staff 
Austin Ballard – Maintenance Staff 
Kole Houston – Maintenance Staff 
Charlie Mathis – Maintenance Staff 
Johnny Usher – Maintenance Staff 
 

OTHERS PRESENT: Laura Gafnea (Oxford College), Sam Trager (CVIOG), Jonathan Eady, family 
of Austin Ballard 
 
Agenda (Attachment A) 
 
1. Mayor’s Announcements 

Announcements are listed in the agenda.  Regarding the possible special called meeting, Mayor 
Eady asked Marcia Brooks to find out from Rushton if they could have the proposed budget 
amendments ready for a meeting Thursday night.  They confirmed they could, so a meeting was 
planned for 6:30 via Zoom. 
 
Mayor Eady announced that he would like to close the office at noon on Friday, December 22nd 
and place the Maintenance staff on call.  There were no objections from City Council members. 
 
Mayor Eady presented a 5-year faithful service award to Austin Ballard. 
 

2. Committee Reports 
 
a. Trees, Parks, and Recreation Board – No report.   

 



December 18, 2023 City of Oxford/Work Session  2 

 
 

b. Planning Commission – Bill Andrew stated there is someone considering requesting 
annexation/rezoning on Moore Street.  There is also an issue pending regarding Richardson 
Street.  Jonathan Eady reported that the two ordinances the City Council will review in January 
pertain to violations occurring now in the City and are not merely prohibiting future issues. 
 

c. Sustainability Committee – Laura McCanless reported that the committee is working on their 
agenda for next year. 
 

d. Old Church Venue Committee – Mike Ready reported that a RFP had been released 
generating interest from three companies.  The committee is in the process of vetting the 
proposals and hope to make a presentation with more details in January. 
 

3. Review of a Classification and Compensation Plan for the City of Oxford, Georgia, by Carl 
Vinson Institute of Georgia (Attachment B) 
Sam Trager with CVIOG presented the findings and recommendations of their report to the City 
Council.  
 
George Holt stated that he does not agree with the assessment that the Supervisor of Utilities and 
Maintenance position should be classified as a non-exempt position.  He contends that there are 
several exemptions under the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA), and this position is exempt under 
at least one of the exemptions. 
 
Mayor Eady stated that he plans to appoint a committee to evaluate the report and discussion and 
make recommendations to the City Council.  Mr. Trager stated that he recommends having an 
attorney review this issue to protect the interests of the City.   
 
Mayor Eady appointed a committee to review the report in consultation with CVIOG and return to 
the City Council with recommendations.  He requested that George Holt, Jeff Wearing, and Mike 
Ready serve on the committee.  Bill Andrew pointed out that the contractual obligation with 
CVIOG has ended, and a new contract would need to be executed to continue working with them. 
George Holt stated he does not believe they need to consult with CVIOG further.  Mayor Eady 
stated it could be the committee’s decision whether further consultation with CVIOG is needed.  
Mr. Holt requested copies of the new job descriptions from Bill Andrew. 
 

4. Oxford DDA Partnership Effort With Main Street Land & Properties 
Jonathan Eady spoke on the DDA’s vote at their recent meeting to select Main Street Land & 
Properties as a potential developer. 
 
He stated that the next steps are: 
1. The City Council moving forward with the Whatcoat Street realignment  
2. Conveyance of the property to the DDA 
3. Settle unresolved issues with the developer regarding rent and schematic design 
4. Move forward with negotiation of transaction documents with the developer 
 
Mayor Eady asked for clarification on when the milestones of the Whatcoat Street realignment 
should be completed in relation to development of the site.  Jonathan Eady stated that the 
expectation is for the Whatcoat Street contractor to coordinate with the development contractor to 
ensure that timing of the various elements of the Whatcoat Street project are completed once and 
do not have to be ripped out and reworked. 



December 18, 2023 City of Oxford/Work Session  3 

 
 
Jim Windham stated it was his understanding that hard cost estimates would be available a 
couple of weeks ago.  Jeff Wearing agreed with Mr. Windham. 
 
Mayor Eady stated the only way to get firm cost estimates is to release a RFP.  Laura McCanless 
stated what she recalled is that it would take a couple of weeks to get bid documents out to 
potential contractors for the work, and ninety days to complete the bid process.  Jeff Wearing 
stated that was his recollection also. 
 
Mr. Windham asked how much control the DDA will have over the project as it proceeds.  
Jonathan Eady stated the ground lease document would enforce control in the long term and 
regulate changes during development.  During development they would have control over design.  
Before the ground lease is signed a final set of plans must be approved.  Any changes after that 
must be approved.   
 
Mr. Windham asked if it is necessary to tear down the existing building.  Jonathan Eady stated 
that while the existing building is not about to fall down, it does not accommodate the kind of 
development they are pursuing to build the town center.   
 
Jeff Wearing stated he did not know if he could support a $1-2 million dollar price tag. 
 
Mayor Eady stated that what the DDA really needs is a delineated boundary and establishment of 
a lot that could be conveyed to the DDA.  That is tied to the Whatcoat Street work.   
 
Jeff Wearing stated he was under the impression that no additional parking was needed for the 
development, but now additional parking spaces on Whatcoat Street are being contemplated. 
 
Jonathan Eady stated that there is no pending expectation that additional parking will need to be 
provided by the City.  However, before the visioning and concept plan transitions to executable 
documents, the DDA wants to be absolutely certain that what is proposed will meet the 
developer’s expectations. 
 
Erik Oliver asked why this process is being handled differently than DDA processes are usually 
handled.  Specifically, a DDA is usually conveyed property after which they go out and find 
financing and a developer.  He also questioned the value of the project to citizens and the 
jurisdiction granted to the DDA for developing the town center.  He was told that they were given 
the town green for phase 1 of development. 
 
Mayor Eady stated the DDA was given jurisdiction of the whole town center area, which runs from 
the old city hall building to the current city hall building, and the property on E. Clark Street and 
behind Orna Villa.  The DDA was directed to look at the E. Clark Street property and the property 
behind Orna Villa for residential development, which did not come to fruition.  This was the only 
directive from the City Council. 
 
Jonathan Eady stated the scope of Oxford’s DDA is to leverage its ability to be more flexible than 
traditional city governments to obtain financing and attract developers. 
 
Mr. Oliver stated several concerns: 

• Construction before deconstruction would require acquisition of a parcel further north. 
 



December 18, 2023 City of Oxford/Work Session  4 

 
 

• Realignment of Whatcoat Street for the purpose of accommodating the development is 
outside the scope of the Whatcoat Street improvements, which were being discussed 
before the DDA was formed. 

• Why not start with a project that would not be a cost to the citizens such as work on the 
green? 

• The building will be pre-leased to Oxford College.  His concern is the college will eventually 
have the opportunity to buy it from the developer. 

• The lease does not have to be with the DDA.  The City Council could retain ownership of 
the property and be the lessor. 
 

Mayor Eady stated that the City cannot enter into the type of agreement being planned.   
 
Erik Oliver stated he does not see how the contemplated building would be any different than the 
City leasing the current building to Oxford College.  He also asked how the City will receive 
renumeration for the loss of the current building. 
 
Jonathan Eady stated that the only thing the City is being asked to spend money on is 
infrastructure on Whatcoat Street, which is a predicate to this particular project being done but has 
been on the drawing board for a decade or longer and is consistent with aligning the streets in a 
way to facilitate town center redevelopment independent of the current project being discussed. 
 
Mayor Eady provided the income estimates again that he had previously provided related to the 
project. 
 
Jonathan Eady stated that the DDA has spent a lot of time getting to this point with the project, 
and it is aligned with their understanding of the City Council’s expectations and direction for the 
Town Center.  If the City Council wants them to move forward, they will.  If the City Council does 
not want to see this happen, they will stop meeting. 
 
Erik Oliver stated that some of the City Council members felt the development plans were shoved 
and the DDA is saying that they will not work on any other ideas for Town Center development.  
He stated that the City Council is still the deciding body. 
 
Mayor Eady stated that what he heard Jonathan Eady say and what he heard from Brian Barnard 
in a previous meeting is that the DDA is continuing to move forward in good faith based on their 
understanding of the City Council’s desires and has requested the City’s direction at certain 
stages in the process.  In March the City Council approved them moving forward with the plan to 
engage with Main Street concerning construction of this building.  If the City Council does not want 
the DDA to move forward with building according to this plan they will stop meeting with Main 
Street and stop working on this project. 
 
Mr. Oliver asked about the status of discussions the City Council has had about cost sharing, 
compensation for the building coming down, and a property swap and whether they have been 
discussed with Main Street.  Mayor Eady stated he has mentioned the property swap to Main 
Street.  He stated he does not see the value of a property swap because the City will be swapping 
one building that is not sufficient for moving forward with the DDA’s vision for another one.  In 
conversations with Sam Hay, he has discussed removing the existing post office building and  
 



December 18, 2023 City of Oxford/Work Session  5 

 
 
Repurposing the site into something in line with town center goals.  Jonathan Eady added that one 
of the advantages of partnering with Main Street is the opportunity to add on to the town center 
using the post office property.   
 
Mr. Oliver stated that in that case he would support Main Street purchasing the old city hall 
building.  Jonathan Eady stated that there is an overall project cost that if it is exceeded makes it a 
non-viable project.  Piling more non-revenue producing cost onto the project does not make it a 
better project.  Mr. Oliver stated he does not think they will walk away if they have to pay for the 
building. 
 
Laura McCanless stated she supports Main Street’s project in its current proposed location but 
would like to see some financial support from Main Street or Oxford College for the realignment of 
Whatcoat Street.  Mayor Eady stated he has shared that concern with Emory and they have taken 
it back to discuss. 
 
Mike Ready expressed his support for the DDA proposal.  He is getting tired of the City Council 
rehashing issues over and over.  He acknowledges that he is concerned with the cost of the 
Whatcoat Street realignment and the loss of the property, but he believes the City Council needs 
to approve moving forward. 
 
George Holt stated he supported the project when it first started out, but then found out the 
building was going to be torn down.  He did not agree with this, but also feels that Main Street 
should contribute toward the cost of the Whatcoat Street realignment. 
 
Jonathan Eady stated his belief that 95% of the increase in cost for Whatcoat Street is due to 
escalating construction costs.  There should be no increase in cost to realign the street.  This part 
of the project has been discussed since 2006.  It is not specifically in the project to facilitate 
construction of the building.  Realignment of the street is not required to build the building, but the 
DDA feels that realignment and squaring the property will maximize the utility for a building site. 
 
Jim Windham stated that originally the cost to make changes to Whatcoat Street was $80,000.  It 
became $300,000 when the idea of realignment was introduced.  He stated he has a hard time 
justifying spending $1 million or more on Whatcoat Street.  He supports the DDA and believes 
there are so many possibilities to improve the green and the area behind Yarbrough House.  His 
main goal with the Whatcoat Street work was to get rid of some asphalt. 
 
Mr. Oliver stated that there should be more cost sharing with the college and the developer 
benefitting.  He cannot support spending so much money when there are so many other 
infrastructure needs in the City. 
 
Mayor Eady stated that Atkins will be moving forward with bidding procedures.  They can also be 
asked to evaluate doing minimal work on Whatcoat Street just to get rid of some pavement and 
redefine the lot and provide this information to Oxford. 
 

5. Review the City Council Meeting Schedule for 2024 (Attachment C) 
There were no objections to adopting the calendar.  Mayor Eady announced that beginning in 
2024, a committee of City Council will be planning the Staff Appreciation Party.  He and his wife 
are working on getting a volunteer appreciation dinner scheduled. 
 



December 18, 2023 City of Oxford/Work Session  6 

 
 

6. Review of recommended changes to the Stream Buffers from 25 feet to 100 feet (Attachment 
D) 
Laura McCanless clarified that the proposed ordinance change does not include intermittent 
streams.   
 
George Holt asked for the rationale for the change.  Laura McCanless explained that there is not 
appreciable effectiveness until the distance approaches 75-100 feet from a building site.  The EPA 
advocates a minimum of 100 feet but recommends more.  She added that this applies to new 
development. 
 

7. Review Three Bids for Public Works Fence Demolition and Replacement (Attachment E) 
Laura McCanless asked if the City is familiar with HCS.  Jody Reid advised they do a lot of the 
City’s work and are reliable. 
 
George Holt asked why the second bidder included tax on labor in their quote.  Marcia Brooks 
stated the City does not pay tax on any part of the cost of a job. 
 
Jody confirmed that all the bids are using treated wood. 
 
The Council members agreed to move forward with the HCS bid. 
 

8. Authorization for Mayor Eady to sign the official Proclamation declaring Newton County as 
an Education First Community (Attachment F) 

 
9. Consideration of Placing Signs for Catova Creek where it flows under E. Soule Street and 

E. Richardson Street  
 

10. Approval of Request for Assistance from Northeast Georgia Regional Commission 
(NEGRC) to apply for the Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity 
(RAISE) Grant (Attachment G) 

 
11. Appointment of the Mayor Pro Tem 

The City Council members agreed that Erik Oliver should serve as Mayor Pro Tem in 2024. 
 

12. Appointment of City Solicitor, City Attorney, and Municipal Court Judge 
George Holt stated that the City charter also requires appointment of the City Clerk and Police 
Chief, and the Council can also choose to appoint a Treasurer in January of each year.  The City 
Council will discuss these appointments in Executive Session this evening. 
 

13. City Road Signs Update – compliance with the Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices 
(MUTCD) 

 
14. Distribution of FEMA Reimbursement Funds (Appendix H) 

The City Council advised staff to leave the FEMA Reimbursement Funds in the General Fund to help offset 
the deficit in the budget. 
 

15. Other Business 
 

16. Work Session Meeting Review 



December 18, 2023 City of Oxford/Work Session  7 

 
17. Executive Session 

Jim Windham made a motion to go into Executive Session at 8:47 p.m.  Mike Ready 
seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (7/0). 

 
An Executive Session was held to discuss personnel matters. 
 
Jim Windham made a motion to exit Executive Session at 9:00 p.m.  Jeff Wearing seconded 
the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (7/0). 
 

18. Adjourn 
Jim Windham made a motion to adjourn at 9:00 p.m.  Erik Oliver seconded the motion.  The 
motion was approved unanimously (7/0).   

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
 
Marcia Brooks 
City Clerk/Treasurer 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

DRAFT MINUTES OF THE OXFORD MAYOR AND COUNCIL MEETING 
SPECIAL CALLED VOTING MEETING 

THURSDAY, DECEMBER 21, 2023 – 6:30 PM 
VIA TELECONFERENCE 

DRAFT 
 
ELECTED OFFICIALS PRESENT:  
David Eady – Mayor 
George Holt – Councilmember 
Laura McCanless – Councilmember 
Mike Ready – Councilmember 
Jim Windham – Councilmember 
Erik Oliver – Councilmember 

 
APPOINTED/STAFF PRESENT: 
Marcia Brooks – City Clerk/Treasurer 
Bill Andrew – City Manager 
 
 
 

 
ELECTED OFFICIALS NOT PRESENT: 
Jeff Wearing – Councilmember 

 
OTHERS PRESENT:  None. 
 
1. The meeting was called to order by the Honorable David S. Eady, Mayor. 

 
2. Erik Oliver made a motion to accept the agenda for the December 21, 2023 Mayor and 

Council Special Called Voting Meeting.  George Holt seconded the motion.  The motion was 
approved unanimously (6/0).  (Attachment A) 

 
3. FY 2023 Budget Amendments (Attachment B) 

 
Erik Oliver made a motion to approve the FY 2023 budget amendments.  Mike Ready 
seconded the motion.  The motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
4. Adjourn 

 
Jim Windham made a motion to adjourn at 6:35 p.m.  Erik Oliver seconded the motion.  The 
motion was approved unanimously (6/0). 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Marcia Brooks 
City Clerk/Treasurer 



 

 

 

 

 

2024 CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS 
 

January 8, 2024 Organizational Meeting and Regular Session 
January 22, 2024 Work Session 
February 5, 2024 Regular Session 
February 19, 2024 Work Session 
March 4, 2024 Regular Session 
March 18, 2024 Work Session 
April 1, 2024 Regular Session 
April 15, 2024 Work Session 
May 6, 2024 Regular Session 
May 22, 2024 Work Session 
June 3, 2024 Regular Session 
June 24, 2024 Work Session 
July 1, 2024 Regular Session 
July 15, 2024 Work Session 
August 5, 2024 Regular Session 
August 19, 2024 Work Session 
September 9, 2024 Regular Session 
September 16, 2024  Work Session 
October 7, 2024 Regular Session 
October 21, 2024 Work Session 
November 12, 2024 Regular Session 
November 18, 2024  Work Session 
December 9, 2024  Regular Session 
December 16, 2024  Work Session 

 



 

 

 

 

 

OBSERVED HOLIDAYS 2024 

 

January 1, Monday   New Year’s Day 

January 15, Monday  Martin Luther King Jr. Day 

May 27, Monday   Memorial Day 

June 19, Wednesday  Juneteenth 

July 4, Thursday   Independence Day 

September 2, Monday  Labor Day 

November 11, Monday  Veteran’s Day 

November 28, Thursday  Thanksgiving 

November 29, Friday  Day after Thanksgiving 

December 24, Tuesday  Christmas Eve 

December 25, Wednesday Christmas Day 

 



 
OFFICE OF THE SECRETARY OF STATE 

ELECTIONS DIVISION 
 

 
 

 
 

G:\Calendars\2024\2024 SCHEDULED ELECTIONS_List of Scheduled Elections and Event Summary.C6.1.23_P6.2.23.docx 

2024 SCHEDULED ELECTIONS & SUMMARY OF EVENTS 
 

ELECTION ELECTION DATE ABM APPLICATION  
PERIOD 

ABM MAILOUT  
START DATE 

ADVANCE VOTING 
PERIOD 

REGISTRATION 
DEADLINE 

Presidential Preference Primary (PPP) March 12, 2024 FPCA: 09/14/23 to 03/01/24 
GA APP: 12/25/23 to 03/01/24 

UOCAVA: 01/23/24  
CIVILIAN: 02/12/24 02/19/24 to 3/8/24 02/12/2024 

General Primary / Nonpartisan Election May 21, 2024 FPCA: 11/23/23 to 05/10/24 
GA APP: 03/04/24 to 05/10/24 

UOCAVA: 04/02/24  
CIVILIAN: 04/22/24 04/29/24 to 5/17/24 04/22/2024   

General Primary / Nonpartisan Runoff June 18, 2024 FPCA: 12/21/23 to 06/07/24 
GA APP: 04/01/24 to 06/07/24 

UOCAVA: 04/02/24 
CIVILIAN: ASAP 

ASAP, but no later than 
06/10 to 06/14  

04/22/2024   
General Runoff for Federal Offices 05/20/2024   

General Election November 5, 2024 FPCA: 05/09/24 to 10/25/24 
GA APP: 08/19/24 to 10/25/24 

UOCAVA: 09/17/24 
CIVILIAN: 10/07/24 10/14/24 thru 11/1/24 10/07/2024 

General Runoff December 3, 2024 FPCA: 06/06/24 to 11/22/24 
GA APP: 09/16/24 to 11/22/24 

UOCAVA: 09/17/24 
CIVILIAN: ASAP 

ASAP, but no later than 
11/25/24 to 11/27/24  

10/07/2024 
General Runoff for Federal Offices  11/04/2024 

Special Note: The General Runoff for Federal Offices is not considered a separate event, it is listed on a separate line due to the different registration deadlines.  
 
O.C.G.A. § 21-2-14.  When the last day for the exercise of any privilege or discharge of any duty prescribed or required by this chapter shall fall on a Saturday, Sunday, or legal holiday, the 
next succeeding business day shall be the last day for the exercise of such privilege or the discharge of such duty. 



 

Office of the Honorable Chairman, Marcello Banes  
 
 
 
December 7, 2023 
 
Greetings #OneNewton Supporters,  

As leaders in our community, we once again have an opportunity to do something profound 

and critical. Recently I had the pleasure of meeting with Gail Rothman of the Newton 

Education Foundation (NEF) and am excited and motivated by this new initiative in our 

community. 

We all know what the power of collective impact can have on our community. We all know 

how crucial education is in our community and we all know that Newton County works best 

when it works together. We have seen the tremendous strides our school system has made 

throughout recent years. We also know the job is never finished. After meeting with the 

Newton Education Foundation (NEF), I was humbled and excited by some of the facts 

presented. 

 Georgia ranks 33rd nationally in per pupil spending 

 Georgia is one of only 6 states that does not 

provide specific additional funding to serve 

students living in property 

 Only 5 of the 543 Education Foundations 

are in Georgia 

 In Florida 67 Education Foundations raised more than $85 million for a variety of 

locally driven initiatives 

The Newton Education Foundation, which just recently relaunched to focus on strategic 

investment, set its mission to put community resources to work for our kids so they can 

achieve academic and personal success. What greater way can we help by pledging our 

leadership and our resources. Their link should provide the additional information you may 

need: https://newtoneducationfoundation.org/ 

Years ago, we all came together and pledged Newton County as a Water First Community. 

Since then we have seen our industry grow tremendously, we have added more residences and 

schools and we are growing our tax base in unprecedented ways. That was due to our 

leadership and our cooperation. We now are presented with another opportunity. I request that 

we all come together and pledge our support of the Newton Education Foundation. Will you 

please join me in signing our individual names to an official Proclamation declaring Newton 

County as an Education First Community by supporting the Newton County Education 

Foundation (NEF) and the mission to put community resources to work for our youth?  

 

Respectfully,  

 
Chairman Marcello Banes 

Newton County Board of Commissioners 

https://newtoneducationfoundation.org/


 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Town of Mansfield 

 

 

 

Town of Newborn 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Endorsement Signatures:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Proclamation 

of Unification 
 

SOLIDIFYING THE JOINT EFFORT OF SUPPORT AND PARTNERSHIP OF 

OUR BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS, NEWTON COUNTY 

MUNICIPALITIES, PIEDMONT NEWTON HOSPITAL, CHAMBER OF 

COMMERCE, NEWTON COUNTY TOMORROW, NEWTON COUNTER 

WATER & SEWERAGE AUTHORITY, AND NEWTON COUNTY BOARD OF 

EDUCATION, TO THE NEWTON EDUCATION FOUNDATION (NEF) 

WHEREAS: In 2009, a group of business leaders and local residents established the 

Newton Education Foundation (NEF) with the aim of fostering a stronger 

connection between the community and the Newton County School 

System; and 

WHEREAS: After more than a decade of funding small grants and projects, there is 

a relaunching of efforts with the All in for Kids Campaign, because it is 

believed that in order to provide a world-class education to all our 

children, we need widespread support from every corner of the county; 

and 

WHEREAS: The Newton Education Foundation puts community resources to work 

for our kids so they can achieve academic and personal success. It is 

accomplished by providing funds that help our schools remove obstacles, 

provide great educational opportunities that deepen learning and support 

teachers in meeting the learning needs of all kids. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT PROCLAIMED by the Honorable Chairman 

Marcello Banes that Newton County Board of Commissioners and its 

surrounding Municipalities, Piedmont Newton Hospital, Chamber of 

Commerce, Newton County Tomorrow, Newton Counter Water & 

Sewerage Authority, and Newton County Board of Education that we will 

reaffirm our commitment to ensuring Newton County, as a whole, is 

aware of the positive impact Newton Education Foundation (NEF) can 

make for its students, businesses and citizens through this partnership by 

donation, the promotion of marketing collateral, communications and 

involvement in local events.   

BE IT FURTHER PROCLAIMED, that Chairman Marcello Banes and the Newton 

County Board of Commissioners specifically urges the aforementioned 

and all citizens to become familiar with the services and benefits offered 

by Newton Education Foundation (NEF) in this community to support as 

well as participate in their initiatives to enhance their knowledge and 

awareness regarding the foundation. Chairman of the Board of 

Commissioners will provide an executed copy of this Proclamation to 

each of the aforementioned to certify its commitment and partnership to 

exemplify our mantra: 

                                 “WE’RE ALL IN FOR THE KIDS”                                              

              understanding that Great Schools Build Great Communities 

SO RESOLVED, this __th day of ___________, 2024. 

  

NEWTON COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS 

                     By: ______________________________________ 

                                             The Honorable Chairman, Marcello Banes  

                                             Newton County Board of Commissioners 

 

 

 



PART II - CODE OF ORDINANCES 
Chapter 14 - ENVIRONMENT 

ARTICLE III. - SOIL EROSION AND SEDIMENTATION CONTROL 
DIVISION 2. MINIMUM STANDARDS 

 
 

 
Oxford, Georgia, Code of Ordinances    Created: 2023-08-01 15:40:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 1 of 4 

DIVISION 2. MINIMUM STANDARDS 

Sec. 14-132. General provisions. 

(a) Excessive soil erosion and resulting sedimentation can take place during land-disturbing activities if 
requirements of the chapter and the NPDES general permit are not met. Therefore, plans for those land-
disturbing activities which are not exempted by this chapter shall contain provisions for application of soil 
erosion, sedimentation and pollution control measures and practices. The provisions shall be incorporated 
into the erosion, sedimentation and pollution control plans.  

(b) Soil erosion, sedimentation and pollution control measures and practices shall conform to the minimum 
requirements of this division. The application of measures and practices shall apply to all features of the site, 
including street and utility installations, drainage facilities and other temporary and permanent 
improvements.  

(c) Measures shall be installed to prevent or control erosion, sedimentation and pollution during all stages of 
any land-disturbing activity in accordance with requirements of this article and the NPDES general permit.  

(Ord. of 7-12-2010(01), § 2(35-104(A))) 

Sec. 14-133. Best management practices required. 

(a) Best management practices as set forth in this section shall be required for all land-disturbing activities. 
Proper design, installation and maintenance of best management practices shall constitute a complete 
defense to any action by the director or to any other allegation of noncompliance with this subsection or any 
substantially similar terms contained in a permit for the discharge of stormwater issued pursuant to O.C.G.A. 
§ 12-5-30(f) a part of the Georgia Water Quality Control Act. As used in this subsection, the terms "proper 
design" and "properly designed" mean designed in accordance with the hydraulic design specifications 
contained in the "Manual for Erosion and Sediment Control in Georgia" specified in O.C.G.A. § 12-7-6(b).  

(b) A discharge of stormwater runoff from disturbed areas where best management practices have not been 
properly designed, installed and maintained shall constitute a separate violation of any land-disturbing 
permit issued by a local issuing authority or of any state general permit issued by the EPD pursuant to 
O.C.G.A. § 12-5-30(f), part of the Georgia Water Quality Control Act, for each day on which such discharge 
results in the turbidity of receiving waters being increased by more than 25 nephelometric turbidity units for 
waters supporting warm water fisheries or by more than ten nephelometric turbidity units for waters 
classified as trout waters. The turbidity of the receiving waters shall be measured in accordance with 
guidelines to be issued by the director. This subsection shall not apply to any land disturbance associated 
with the construction of single family homes which are not part of a larger common plan of development or 
sale, unless the planned disturbance for such construction is equal to or greater than five acres.  

(c) Failure to properly design, install or maintain best management practices shall constitute a violation of any 
land-disturbing permit issued by a local issuing authority or of any state general permit issued by the EPD 
pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 12-5-30(f), part of the Georgia Water Quality Control Act, for each day on which such 
failure occurs.  



 
 

 
    Created: 2023-08-01 15:40:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 2 of 4 

(d) The director may require, in accordance with regulations adopted by the board, reasonable and prudent 
monitoring of the turbidity level of receiving waters into which discharges from land disturbing activities 
occur.  

(e) The local issuing authority may set more stringent buffer requirements than stated in this section, in light of 
O.C.G.A. § 12-7-6(c).  

(Ord. of 7-12-2010(01), § 2(35-104(B))) 

Sec. 14-134. Minimum protections. 

The rules and regulations, ordinances or resolutions adopted pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 12-7-1 et seq., for the 
purpose of governing land-disturbing activities, shall require, as a minimum, protections at least as stringent as the 
state general permit; and best management practices, including sound conservation and engineering practices to 
prevent and minimize erosion and resultant sedimentation, which are consistent with, and no less stringent than, 
those practices contained in the "Manual for Erosion and Sediment Control in Georgia" published by the state soil 
and water conservation commission as of January 1 of the year in which the land-disturbing activity was permitted, 
as well as the following:  

(1) Stripping of vegetation, regarding and other development activities shall be conducted in a manner so 
as to minimize erosion;  

(2) Cut-fill operations must be kept to a minimum;  

(3) Development plans must conform to topography and soil type so as to create the lowest practicable 
erosion potential;  

(4) Whenever feasible, natural vegetation shall be retained, protected and supplemented;  

(5) The disturbed area and the duration of exposure to erosive elements shall be kept to a practicable 
minimum;  

(6) Disturbed soil shall be stabilized as quickly as practicable;  

(7) Temporary vegetation or mulching shall be employed to protect exposed critical areas during 
development;  

(8) Permanent vegetation and structural erosion control practices shall be installed as soon as practicable;  

(9) To the extent necessary, sediment in runoff water must be trapped by the use of debris basins, 
sediment basins, silt traps or similar measures until the disturbed area is stabilized. As used in this 
subsection, a disturbed area is stabilized when it is brought to a condition of continuous compliance 
with the requirements of O.C.G.A. § 12-7-1 et seq.;  

(10) Adequate provisions must be provided to minimize damage from surface water to the cut face of 
excavations or the sloping of fills;  

(11) Cuts and fills may not endanger adjoining property;  

(12) Fills may not encroach upon natural watercourses or constructed channels in a manner so as to 
adversely affect other property owners;  

(13) Grading equipment must cross flowing streams by means of bridges or culverts except when such 
methods are not feasible, provided, in any case, that such crossings are kept to a minimum;  

(14) Land-disturbing activity plans for erosion, sedimentation and pollution control shall include provisions 
for treatment or control of any source of sediments and adequate sedimentation control facilities to 



 
 

 
    Created: 2023-08-01 15:40:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 3 of 4 

retain sediments on-site or preclude sedimentation of adjacent waters beyond the levels specified in 
this section;  

(15) Except as provided in subsection (16) of this section, tThere is established a 25100-foot buffer along 
the banks of all state waters, as measured horizontally from the point where vegetation has been 
wrested by normal stream flow or wave action, except where the director determines to allow a 
variance that is at least as protective of natural resources and the environment, where otherwise 
allowed by the director pursuant to O.C.G.A. § 12-2-8, where a drainage structure or a roadway 
drainage structure must be constructed, provided that adequate erosion control measures are 
incorporated in the project plans and specifications, and are implemented; or along any ephemeral 
stream. As used in this provision, the term "ephemeral stream" means a stream: that under normal 
circumstances has water flowing only during and for a short duration after precipitation events; that 
has the channel located above the groundwater table year round; for which groundwater is not a 
source of water; and for which runoff from precipitation is the primary source of water flow, unless 
exempted as along an ephemeral stream, the buffers of at least 25 100 feet established pursuant to 
the Metropolitan River Protection Act, O.C.G.A. § 12-5-440 et seq., shall remain in force unless a 
variance is granted by the director as provided in this subsection. The following requirements shall 
apply to any such buffer:  

a. No land-disturbing activities shall be conducted within a buffer and a buffer shall remain in its 
natural, undisturbed state of vegetation until all land-disturbing activities on the construction site 
are completed. Once the final stabilization of the site is achieved, a buffer may be thinned or 
trimmed of vegetation as long as a protective vegetative cover remains to protect water quality 
and aquatic habitat and a natural canopy is left in sufficient quantity to keep shade on the stream 
bed; provided, however, that any person constructing a single-family residence, when such 
residence is constructed by or under contract with the owner for his own occupancy, may thin or 
trim vegetation in a buffer at any time as long as protective vegetative cover remains to protect 
water quality and aquatic habitat and a natural canopy is left in sufficient quantity to keep shade 
on the stream bed; and  

b. The buffer shall not apply to the following land-disturbing activities, provided that they occur at 
an angle, as measured from the point of crossing, within 25 degrees of perpendicular to the 
stream; cause a width of disturbance of not more than 50 feet within the buffer; and adequate 
erosion control measures are incorporated into the project plans and specifications and are 
implemented:  

1. Stream crossings for water lines; or  

2. Stream crossings for sewer lines;  

(16) There is established a 50100-foot buffer, as measured horizontally from the point where vegetation 
has been wrested by normal stream flow or wave action, along the banks of any state waters classified 
as trout streams pursuant to Georgia Water Quality Control Act, O.C.G.A. § 12-5-20 et seq., except 
where a roadway drainage structure must be constructed; provided, however, that small springs and 
streams classified as trout streams which discharge an average annual flow of 25 gallons per minute or 
less shall have a 25-foot buffer or they may be piped, at the discretion of the landowner, pursuant to 
the terms of a rule providing for a general variance promulgated by the board, so long as any such pipe 
stops short of the downstream landowner's property and the landowner complies with the buffer 
requirement for any adjacent trout streams. The director may grant a variance from such buffer to 
allow land-disturbing activity, provided that adequate erosion control measures are incorporated in the 
project plans and specifications and are implemented. The following requirements shall apply to such 
buffer:  



 
 

 
    Created: 2023-08-01 15:40:50 [EST] 
(Supp. No. 7) 

 
Page 4 of 4 

a. No land-disturbing activities shall be conducted within a buffer and a buffer shall remain in its 
natural, undisturbed state of vegetation until all land-disturbing activities on the construction site 
are completed. Once the final stabilization of the site is achieved, a buffer may be thinned or 
trimmed of vegetation as long as a protective vegetative cover remains to protect water quality 
and aquatic habitat and a natural canopy is left in sufficient quantity to keep shade on the stream 
bed; provided, however, that any person constructing a single-family residence, when such 
residence is constructed by or under contract with the owner for his own occupancy, may thin or 
trim vegetation in a buffer at any time as long as protective vegetative cover remains to protect 
water quality and aquatic habitat and a natural canopy is left in sufficient quantity to keep shade 
on the stream bed; and  

b. The buffer shall not apply to the following land-disturbing activities, provided that they occur at 
an angle, as measured from the point of crossing, within 25 degrees of perpendicular to the 
stream; cause a width of disturbance of not more than 50 feet within the buffer; and adequate 
erosion control measures are incorporated into the project plans and specifications and are 
implemented:  

1. Stream crossings for water lines; or  

2. Stream crossings for sewer lines.  

(Ord. of 7-12-2010(01), § 2(35-104(C))) 

Sec. 14-135. More stringent regulations may be adopted. 

Nothing contained in O.C.G.A. § 12-7-1 et seq. shall prevent any local issuing authority from adopting rules 
and regulations, ordinances, or resolutions which contain stream buffer requirements that exceed the minimum 
requirements in sections 14-133 and 14-134.  

(Ord. of 7-12-2010(01), § 2(35-104(D))) 

Sec. 14-136. Injury does not constitute proof or presumption of violation of standards. 

The fact that land-disturbing activity for which a permit has been issued results in injury to the property of 
another shall neither constitute proof of nor create a presumption of a violation of the standards provided for in 
this chapter or the terms of the permit.  

(Ord. of 7-12-2010(01), § 2(35-104(E))) 

Secs. 14-137—14-155. Reserved. 

 









   

 

 
 
 
December 12, 2023 
 
Mr. Burke Walker, Executive Director 
Northeast Georgia Regional Commission 
305 Research Drive 
Athens, GA 30605-2795 
 
RE: Requesting Assistance with an Application for the Rebuilding American Infrastructure with 
Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) Grant Program 
 
Dear Mr. Walker: 
 
I would like to request the assistance of the Northeast Georgia Regional Commission with the 
Rebuilding American Infrastructure with Sustainability and Equity (RAISE) Grant Program application 
due on February 28, 2024.   
 
We believe this application could dovetail with the work we have on-going on shared-use path 
construction from the $2.2M in Governor’s Office of Planning and Budget funds we are matching with 
$1.3M.   
 
The primary contact for this project is Bill Andrew, City Manager.  He may be reached at 
bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org or (770) 786-7004. Thank you for your time and attention in this request 
and we look forward to hearing from you.  We certainly appreciate the services provided by the 
NEGRC. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
David S. Eady, Mayor 

 

110 W. Clark Street 
Oxford, GA 30054 

Phone 770-786-7004 
Fax 770-786-2211 

www.oxfordgeorgia.org 

Incorporated December 23, 1839 
 

Mayor David S. Eady 
City Manager Bill Andrew 
City Clerk Marcia Brooks 

 



 

 
 

Memo 
To:    Bill Andrew, City Manager 

From: Marcia Brooks, City Clerk/Treasurer 

Date: December 7, 2023 

Re: Reimbursement from FEMA 

On January 12, 2023, severe storms and tornadoes caused widespread damage to multiple areas of 
Georgia.  The City of Oxford was one of the jurisdictions impacted.  Work performed by our 
employees as a result of this damage included clearing of streets/rights of way,  restoration of 
electrical service and cleanup and hauling of storm debris.   
 
The City of Oxford qualified for reimbursement from FEMA of its costs to complete repairs and 
cleanup.  The City received a total of $9,368.01 from GEMA (acting on FEMA’s behalf) in 
November 2023.  The funds were deposited in the City’s General Operating account and booked to 
Intergovernmental Revenue (General Fund) pending further instruction from the City Council. 
 
The question to be answered by the City Council is whether to leave these funds in the General 
Fund to be used for general purposes or to designate them for one or more specific purposes.  A 
breakdown of the specific activities the funds were paid to the City for are as follows: 

• City Wide Electrical Utility Damage – 4,197.40 

• City Wide Debris Removal – 4,817.25 

• Administrative Costs – 353.36 (Marcia – 78%, Jody – 22%) 

If the City Council desires to utilize the reimbursement funds in the specific areas they were spent, 
a journal entry will need to be made to move the electrical portion to the Electric fund.  Since 
debris removal falls under Streets, which is already in the General Fund, a journal entry is not 
needed for that portion.  Most of the administrative costs were incurred during the process to 
document the City’s costs, and the City Clerk’s position is already paid from the General Fund as 
well. 
 
As a general reminder, the General Fund budget for FY 2024 had a deficit, and the City Council’s 
approved budget included supplementing the General Fund from other sources, including the 
Electrical fund.   
 















































From: Luke McBrayer
To: Bill Andrew
Cc: Chad Peden; Gabe Morris; Isaac St.Clair
Subject: RE: Oxford Lead and Copper Rule Funding
Date: Tuesday, January 2, 2024 4:46:08 PM
Attachments: image001.png

image002.png
image003.png

Bill,
 
Yes, the table you reference in Exhibit B does show the $226,100 in the ‘Engineering and
Administration’ row under the ‘Other Contributions’ column. This $226,100 was applied for as a
loan with potential principal forgiveness and was submitted last year separately from the grant
application. In that loan application, we split the $226,100 across the various categories, and we put
$40,000 in the Engineering and Admin section (see the image below as a reference). Based on the
grant application that was submitted for the City, the budget shown in the ‘Grant’ column is correct
as shown in Exhibit B. However, it looks to me that GEFA has lumped the applied-for loan amount
of $226,100 into one item instead of reflecting our loan funds budget for that application. For this
grant agreement, the amounts shown in the ‘Grant’ column are what really matters. Based on the
language in the agreement documents, the grant agreement does not commit you to spending what is
shown in ‘Other Contributions’, but rather you commit to the amount for the grant only. The ‘Other
Contributions’ amount hinges on the results from the aforementioned loan application, but GEFA
has yet to release those results.
 
Here is a summary of the amounts we applied for in the grant and loan applications last year:

 
I would be happy to hop on a quick call and answer any questions while Isaac is gone this week.
 
Luke McBrayer
Carter & Sloope, Inc.
6310 Peake Road
Macon, GA 31210
Office: 478-477-3923
Email: Lmcbrayer@cartersloope.com
 
From: Bill Andrew <bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, January 2, 2024 2:17 PM
To: Isaac St.Clair <istclair@cartersloope.com>
Cc: Chad Peden <cpeden@cartersloope.com>; Luke McBrayer <lmcbrayer@cartersloope.com>
Subject: RE: Oxford Lead and Copper Rule Funding
 

mailto:lmcbrayer@cartersloope.com
mailto:bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org
mailto:cpeden@cartersloope.com
mailto:gmorris@cartersloope.com
mailto:istclair@cartersloope.com
mailto:Lmcbrayer@cartersloope.com





IRONSCALES couldn't recognize this email as this is the first time you received an email
from this sender bandrew @ oxfordgeorgia.org

 
Isaac and/or Luke and Chad,

 

Thanks for all the information…this does help me understand a bit.  I can see they are
repeatedly calling this a grant, but the budget categories and that “Other Contributions” of
$226,100 is still giving me heartburn.  And, the budget does not really make sense, as I
mentioned before…see Exhibit B.

 

Did we fulfill the data request you reference in your email (the one a couple of weeks ago)?

 

Bill

 

From: Isaac St.Clair <istclair@cartersloope.com> 
Sent: Friday, December 29, 2023 6:06 PM
To: Bill Andrew <bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org>
Cc: Chad Peden <cpeden@cartersloope.com>; Luke McBrayer <lmcbrayer@cartersloope.com>
Subject: Re: Oxford Lead and Copper Rule Funding

 

Hey Bill,

 

I'm typing this on my phone so apologies for any typos.
I'm traveling with limited cell service this week  (today through January 5th) so I'm unable to join a
virtual meeting, however, I've briefly answered your questions below. If you need more information
before the 5th, Luke McBrayer (copied) and Chad can join a call and answer any questions.

 

The $73,900 is grant funding, however, it may be administered as a loan with 100% principal
forgiveness, 0% interest, and 0% origination fee.
The $226,100 is not required to be spent in order to receive the $73,900. Basically, we asked GEFA
for $350,000. They allocated $73,900 in grant funding and the remainder in loan funding. The loan
funding can still have principal forgiveness, so we're waiting to see how much that is before we can
give you the full picture of how much "free money" you'd receive compared to how much money
you'd have to spend. The data request I sent you a couple weeks ago is what GEFA needs to

mailto:istclair@cartersloope.com
mailto:bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org
mailto:cpeden@cartersloope.com
mailto:lmcbrayer@cartersloope.com


determine the principal forgiveness.
The budget items will look a bit weird since they are split between the grant and loan funding
applications, but I don't think I put $226,100 for engineering and administration. If you send us the
grant funding agreement package you received we can review and confirm all the above.
The project timeline and budget categories shouldn't be a problem and can be extended/moved
around.

 

If the grant funding package you received is worded the same way as the others I've seen, then all
City Council is approving is the acceptance of the $73,900 "loan" with 100% principal forgiveness, 0%
interest, and 0% origination fee.

 

I hope that helps, and I hope you had a Merry Christmas and Happy Holidays! If you have any other
questions or want to talk over the phone we can get you connected with Luke or Chad.

 

Sincerely,
Isaac

 

Get Outlook for Android

 

From: Bill Andrew <bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org>
Sent: Friday, December 29, 2023 3:58:39 PM
To: Isaac St.Clair <istclair@cartersloope.com>
Cc: Chad Peden <cpeden@cartersloope.com>
Subject: RE: Oxford Lead and Copper Rule Funding

 

Isaac,
 
Could we arrange a virtual meeting on Tuesday (1/2/24) on this?  I am in the office today until
5:00.  I have all the grant acceptance paperwork and since this is due back to GEFA on

February 1, 2024, I will need to have it on our Voting Meeting on January 8th.  There are a few
questions that I have:
 

1. Is the $73,900 a grant and not a loan?
2. Just to confirm, we need to put in $226,100?
3. I am confused by the budget which shows $9,786 for Service Line Investigation and

https://aka.ms/AAb9ysg
mailto:bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org
mailto:istclair@cartersloope.com
mailto:cpeden@cartersloope.com


Potholing and $265,100 for engineering and administration…  How would $9,786 be
enough to investigate our lines?

 
My general understanding is we are required to do this and that we have deadlines to get it
done.  And, there will be hopefully more money coming down the pike to pay for
remediation.  If you could get me info on this for the Council, that would be helpful. 
 
Speaking of the deadlines, the Project Schedule does not seem to be attainable:
 

 
Bill
 

From: Isaac St.Clair <istclair@cartersloope.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 31, 2023 2:06 PM
To: Bill Andrew <bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org>
Cc: Jody Reid <JReid@oxfordgeorgia.org>; Chad Peden <cpeden@cartersloope.com>
Subject: Oxford Lead and Copper Rule Funding
 
Good Afternoon Bill,
 
GEFA just released a draft copy of the Intended Use Plan for the Bipartisan Infrastructure Law
funding for the Lead and Copper Rule Inventory projects, and I wanted to give you an update. Please
note that this is a draft copy, and the funding allocations may change in the final copy. As discussed,
we submitted an application on behalf of the City of Oxford for $350,000 for the inventory project.

mailto:istclair@cartersloope.com
mailto:bandrew@oxfordgeorgia.org
mailto:JReid@oxfordgeorgia.org
mailto:cpeden@cartersloope.com


The City is tentatively awarded with $73,900 in grant funding and was designated as “Primary” for
principal forgiveness opportunities. This means that GEFA will be contacting the City with additional
information about principal forgiveness scoring. Please be on the lookout for this email and let us
know when you receive it, as the principal forgiveness allocation could substantially increase the
amount of funding the City receives from GEFA. The City received a tentative interest rate of 2.63%.
 
We will keep you updated as we learn more.
 
Sincerely,
Isaac St.Clair
 

Isaac St.Clair, EIT
Carter & Sloope, Inc.
1031 Stonebridge Parkway
Watkinsville, Georgia 30677
Phone: (706) 769-4119     
Email: istclair@cartersloope.com

 
 

The information contained in this email is intended only for the personal and confidential use by the intended recipients of this email. If
the reader is not an intended recipient or an agent responsible for delivering it to the intended recipient, this serves as notice that you have
received this document in error and that any review, dissemination, distribution, or copying is strictly prohibited. If you have received this
communication in error, please delete the original and notify us immediately by email at Info@cartersloope.com or by telephone at 478-
477-3923. Carter & Sloope, Inc., as the preparer and drafter of all electronic information and files, shall retain all common law, statutory
and other rights (including copyright). Moreover, the email and any attachments may not contain all final engineering and design
elements. Any person or entity which is not the client of Carter & Sloope or any government agency for which this transmission is
intended, is not entitled to rely upon the information contained in this email or any attachment, and any such reliance shall be at the peril
of such person. ALL IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, ABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR
PURPOSE ARE EXCLUDED. CARTER & SLOOPE, INC. SHALL HAVE NO LIABILITY UNDER ANY LEGAL THEORY
FOR CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES OR ATTORNEY’S FEES.

NEVER TRUST WIRING INSTRUCTIONS SENT VIA EMAIL. Cyber criminals are hacking email accounts and sending emails
with fake wiring instructions. These emails are convincing and sophisticated. ALWAYS independently verify our phone number and call
us to confirm wiring instructions prior to sending a wire. NEVER wire money without calling our office to verify that the wiring
instructions are correct.

 

https://www.cartersloope.com/
http://www.cartersloope.com/
mailto:istclair@cartersloope.com
mailto:Info@cartersloope.com


City of Oxford 

Invoices >=$1,000 

Paid December 2023 

 
VENDOR  DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT  

RECURRING CHARGES 

Newton County Water & Sewerage 

Authority 

Sewer Treatment Fees, 10/30/2023-11/29/2023 7,546.00 

Newton County Board of 

Commissioners 

Water Purchased for Resale – November 2023; Invoice #3167 

 

21,886.00 

Newton County Board of 

Commissioners 

Landfill fees, November 2023 1,624.00 

Carl Vinson Institute of 

Government 

Facilitator for 11/17/2023 City Council Retreat; Invoice 

#202247 

2468.26 

Georgia Municipal Association GMEBS Life & Health Premiums, December 2023 11,776.35 

Municipal Electric Authority of 

Georgia (MEAG) 

Monthly Electric Purchases for November 2023 89,188.85 

Electric Cities of Georgia Consulting and planning services for December 2023 5,984.00 

U.S. Dept. of Treasury  Federal Payroll Taxes, December 2023  17,134.16 

Courtware Solutions Licensing, support and maintenance for Municipal Court case 

management – November 2023 

1,200.00 

Latham Home Sanitation Residential and Commercial Waste Removal Services 

November 2023 

10,263.75 

 
 

VENDOR  DESCRIPTION  AMOUNT  

PURCHASES/CONTRACT LABOR 

C. David Strickland, P.C. Legal services, November, 2023 3,210.00 

Steven A. Hathorn Municipal Court Judge services, Oct-Dec 2023 1,562.50 

Beryl Budd Arborist services for September and October 2023; Invoice #52 1,275.00 

Rushton FY 2023 audit; Invoice #54680 12,000.00 

Nelsnick Enterprises Water and wastewater system development charge calculation; Invoice 

#2023033 

2,574.50 

Atkins North America Whatcoat Street intersection design 38,050.78 

Sensus 20 water meter registers 1,314.11 

Jacks Creek Farms, LLC Purchase of twelve trees for Longstreet Circle (to be reimbursed by 

Georgia Releaf Grant) 

2,700.00 

Arbor Equity Planting of trees on Longstreet Circle (to be reimbursed by Georgia 

Releaf Grant) 

4.950.00 

 


	000 AGENDA VOTING MTG JANUARY 8, 2024
	001a Ltr Req for Oxford Reappointment (2024) MUNI CT JUDGE
	002bi Ltr Req for Oxford Reappointment (2024) CITY ATTY
	Attorneys at Law
	1138 Conyers Street, SE
	Charles D. Strickland (1962-2019)
	Post Office Box 70


	002bii Ltr Req for Oxford (2024) SOLICITOR
	002c Mayor Pro-Tem List
	004a DRAFT Minutes Regular Session Dec 4 2023
	004b DRAFT Minutes - Work Session - December 18 2023
	004c DRAFT Minutes Special Called Voting Meeting December 21 2023
	007 2024 CITY COUNCIL MEETINGS
	007a 2024 OBSERVED HOLIDAYS
	007b 2024 SCHEDULED ELECTIONS
	008 CHAIRMAN BANES NEF Newton Education Foundation Proclamation Request Letter 2023
	008a Newton Education Foundation Proclamation 2023_Draft_Sample
	009 DIVISION_2.___MINIMUM_STANDARDS 100 ft Buffer
	DIVISION 2. MINIMUM STANDARDS
	Sec. 14-132. General provisions.
	Sec. 14-133. Best management practices required.
	Sec. 14-134. Minimum protections.
	Sec. 14-135. More stringent regulations may be adopted.
	Sec. 14-136. Injury does not constitute proof or presumption of violation of standards.
	Secs. 14-137—14-155. Reserved.


	010 Three Bids for PW Bldg Fence
	Seabolt.Timber Quotes
	scan

	012 NEGRC Assistance req letter 23.12.12 Signed
	013 FEMA Reimbursement
	014 Oxford Award Docs DWLSL2022070 compressed
	scan (003)
	scan (004)

	014a RE_ Oxford Lead and Copper Rule Funding
	015 Invoices 1000+ December 2023

